





2017년 7월

의학과 병리학전공

고 현 민

제주대학교 대학원

대장암 환자의 예후 인자로서 Aurora kinase A의 유용성

박사학위논문

대장암 환자의 예후 인자로서

Aurora kinase A의 유용성

지도교수 맹 영 희

고 현 민

이 논문을 의학 박사학위 논문으로 제출함

2017년 7월



제주대학교 대학원

2017년 7월



Aurora Kinase A Is a Prognostic Marker in Colorectal Adenocarcinoma

Hyun Min Koh (Supervised by professor Young Hee Maeng)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of requirement for the degree of Doctor of philosophy in medicine

2017.7.

This thesis has been examined and approved.

Gun In 00

2017 16. May

Department of medicine GRADUATE SCHOOL JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY



CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	6
INTRODUCTION	7
MATERIALS AND METHODS	10
1. Patients and clinicopathological data	
2. Array comparative genomic hybridization	
3. Fluorescent <i>in situ</i> hybridization	
4. Tissue microarray construction	
5. Immunohistochemistry	
6. Statistical analysis	
RESULTS 1	16
1. CNVs in chromosome 20	
2. AURKA gene amplification status	
3. Relationship between AURKA expression and clinicopathological characteristic	CS
4. AURKA expression and survival analysis	
DISCUSSION	26
REFERENCE	31



LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1. Clinicopathological characteristics of the patients 11
Table 2. The relationship between 20q13.2-13.33 copy number gain and AURCA
gene amplification 17
Table 3. The relationship between Aurora kinase A expression and the
clinicopathological characteristics of colorectal cancer patients
Table 4. Results of the multivariate Cox regression analysis of progression-free
survival

Figure 1. Genome wide array comparative genomic hybridization	16
Figure 2. Fluorescence in situ hybridization for Aurora kinase A (AURKA)	18
Figure 3. Immunohistochemical staining with Aurora kinase A (AURKA)	20
Figure 4. The relationships between Aurora kinase A (AURKA) expression,	
clinicopathological characteristics, and progression-free survival	24



ABSTRACT

Background: Aurora kinase A (AURKA), or STK15/BTAK, is a member of the serine/threonine kinase family and plays important roles in mitosis and chromosome stability. This study investigated the clinical significance of AURKA expression in colorectal cancer patients in Korea. Methods: We evaluated copy number variations by array comparative genomic hybridization and AURKA gene amplification using fluorescence in situ hybridization in colorectal carcinoma tissues. AURKA protein expression was evaluated by immunohistochemistry in 151 patients with colorectal adenocarcinoma using tissue microarray blocks. We analyzed the relationship between clinicopathological characteristics and AURKA expression. In addition, the prognostic significance of various clinicopathological data for progression-free survival (PFS) was assessed. Results: AURKA gene amplification was found more frequently in the 20q13.2-13.33 gain-positive group than the group with no significant gain on the AURKA-containing locus. AURKA protein expression was detected in 45% of the cases (68/151). Positive staining for AURKA was observed more often in male patients (p = .035) and distally located tumors (p = .021). PFS was shorter in patients with AURKA expression compared to those with low-level AURKA expression (p < .001). Univariate analysis revealed that AURKA expression (p = .001), age (p = .034), lymphatic invasion (p = .001), perineural invasion (p = .002), and TNM stage (p = .013) significantly affected PFS. In a multivariate analysis of PFS, a Cox proportional hazard model confirmed that AURKA expression was an independent and significant prognostic factor in colorectal adenocarcinoma (hazard ratio, 3.944; p < .001). Conclusions: AURKA could serve as an independent factor to predict a poor prognosis in Korean colorectal adenocarcinoma patients.

Key Words: Aurora kinase A; Colorectal adenocarcinoma; Prognosis



INTRODUCTION

Aurora kinases are key mitotic regulators required for the maintenance of chromosome stability [1]. In mammalian cells, Aurora kinases consist of three members (Aurora kinase A, B, and C), which are expressed in a cell cycledependent fashion [1,2].

AURKA (STK15/BTAK) is a serine/threonine kinase family member involved in mitotic entry, bipolar spindle formation, centrosome maturation control, and segregation during mitosis. AURKA maps to chromosome 20q13.2, a region that is frequently amplified in several human malignant tumors, [2-4] including leukemia and breast, bladder, ovarian, gastric, esophageal, liver, colorectal, and pancreatic cancers [2].

Recent studies have shown that AURKA overexpression is associated with tumorigenesis, clinical aggressiveness, and tumor progression in several cancers [1,3,5,6]. A few studies have implicated AURKA activity in oncogenic transformation through the development of chromosome instability and tumor cell heterogeneity and in tumor progression through the activation of epithelialmesenchymal transition reprograming, which results in tumor-initiating cell generation [1,7]. Therefore, AURKA represents a valuable target for cancer therapy, and the development of small-molecule AURKA inhibitors currently undergoing advanced clinical trials may improve the clinical outcomes of cancer patients

> 제주대학교 중앙도서관 JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY LIBRARY

7

[1,5,8].

Various studies have been performed to investigate the relationship between AURKA protein expression or amplification and prognosis in solid tumor patients, including colorectal cancer (CRC) patients [4,5,9-18].

AURKA protein overexpression and amplification have been frequently observed in CRC [12]. Studies have shown that AURKA expression is associated with clinicopathological parameters and overall survival in CRC [4,5,9,12,13,15,19]. Lam *et al.* [13] found that Aurora kinase expression correlated with tumor location, histology, and grade; p16 expression; and telomerase activity in colorectal adenocarcinomas. Belt *et al.* [4] reported that high-level AURKA expression was significantly associated with recurrence in stage II or III colon cancer. In addition, Goos *et al.* [9] revealed that high-level AURKA expression was associated with poor overall survival in CRC liver metastasis. In contrast, Goktas *et al.* [15] reported that AURKA overexpression had a positive effect on survival in metastatic CRC patients.

Despite these studies, the relationship between AURKA expression and CRC progression and clinical outcomes has not been reported in Korean patients. We aimed to investigate *AURKA*-related genetic changes and protein expression in Korean CRC patients. The study included array comparative genomic hybridization (aCGH) for copy number variations (CNV), fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) for *AURKA* gene amplification, and immunohistochemistry for protein expression.



The relationship between AURKA expression, clinicopathological characteristics, and progression-free survival (PFS) was also assessed.



MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Patients and clinicopathological data

Samples from 151 patients who underwent curative surgical resection for colorectal adenocarcinomas between January 2008 and July 2012 at Jeju National University Hospital (Jeju, Korea) were examined. Patients who did not undergo curative surgical resection and those who had any forms of preoperative chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy at the time of surgical resection were excluded. Staging was performed according to the American Joint Committee on Cancer TNM Classification of Malignant Tumors, seventh edition, while the histologic type and differentiation grade of the tumor were determined using the classification system of the World Health Organization, fourth edition [14]. PFS was measured from the date of CRC surgery until the time of recurrence or last follow-up. Clinical data from the patients were collected through medical record examination. The median age of the patients was 66 years (range, 35 to 88 years). Other clinicopathological information is shown in Table 1. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Jeju National University Hospital (2016-06-004).



10

Characteristic	Number (%) (n=151)
Age (years)	
<65	60 (39.7)
≥65	91 (60.3)
Sex	
Male	104 (68.9)
Female	47 (31.1)
Tumor location	
Proximal	46 (30.5)
Distal	105 (69.5)
Tumor differentiation	
Well	18 (11.9)
Moderate	122 (80.8)
Poor	9 (6.0)
Mucinous	2 (1.3)
Vascular invasion	
Absent	140 (92.7)
Present	11 (7.3)
Lymphatic invasion	

 Table 1. Clinicopathological characteristics of the patients



Absent	82 (54.3)
Present	69 (45.7)
Perineural invasion	
Absent	105 (69.5)
Present	46 (30.5)
TNM stage	
Ι	22 (14.6)
II	61 (40.4)
III	68 (45)

TNM, tumor-node-metastasis.

2. Array comparative genomic hybridization

DNA from 24 fresh tissue specimens of colorectal adenocarcinomas was analyzed versus reference DNA. Test and reference gDNAs were independently labeled with fluorescent dyes, co-hybridized to a NimbleGen Human CGH 135K Whole-Genome Tiling array (Roche NimbleGen Inc, Madison, WI, USA), and scanned using a 2 µm scanner. Log2-ratio values of the probe signal intensities (Cy3/Cy5) were calculated and plotted versus genomic position using Roche NimbleGen NimbleScan software. Data are displayed in Roche NimbleGen SignalMap software.



3. Fluorescent in situ hybridization

FISH analysis targeting *AURKA* on 20q13.2 was done on the same cases used in aCGH. Fifteen cases of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue were tested in total; 10 cases with copy number gain on 20q13.2–13.33 and five cases with no copy number gain. The examination was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions (Empire Genomics, Buffalo, NY, USA). Fluorescence was scored on a minimum of 20 non-overlapping nuclei in the representative tumor areas. The *AURKA*/CEP20 ratio was calculated by dividing the total number of *AURKA* signals by the total number of CEP20 signals and the cases with *AURKA*/CEP20 ratio \geq 2.0 were interpreted as positive.

4. Tissue microarray construction

In total, eight tissue microarrays (TMAs) were constructed as described previously [4,9]. Briefly, hematoxylin and eosin (H&E)–stained slides were reviewed and the most representative tumor area was marked. The area was carefully marked on H&E-stained slides as well as formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue blocks. A core (4 mm in diameter) of the tumor area was obtained from each specimen. One section from each block was stained with H&E for tissue confirmation.

제주대학교 중앙도서괸 JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY LIBRAR

13

5. Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed on 4-µm-thick sections from TMA blocks. Tissues were stained with polyclonal anti-AURKA antibodies at a dilution of 1:200 (HPA002636, ATLAS Sigma Life Science, St. Louis, MO, USA) using an automated immunostainer (Benchmark XT, Ventana Medical Systems Inc., Tucson, AZ, USA). The primary antibody was omitted for the negative control, and the adjacent ganglion cells in the nerve bundles within each slide served as an internal reference.

The result was evaluated by visual counting of the tumor cells. The extent of positively stained nuclei was scored as follows: 0, positive staining in 0%; 1, < 10%; 2, \geq 10% and < 25%; 3, \geq 25% and < 50%; and 4, \geq 50%. Scores of 2–4 were considered positive, and scores \leq 1 were considered negative [4,12,13]. To confirm reproducibility, all samples were scored by two independent observers in a blinded manner. If discrepancies occurred, a consensus score was reached.

6. Statistical analysis

Pearson's chi-square test was used for categorical variables. PFS was analyzed using the Kaplan-Meier method with the log-rank test assessing differences in survival probability between groups. The prognostic significance of various clinicopathological characteristics for PFS was assessed by the Cox proportional

14



hazard regression method. All values were based on two-sided statistical analyses; significance was set at p < .05. All statistical tests were performed with IBM SPSS ver. 21.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA).



RESULTS

1. CNVs in chromosome 20

In twenty-four cases of colorectal carcinomas, total 1,297 CNVs were detected. The locus of 20q13.2–13.33 containing *AURKA* gene were recurrently gained in 13 cases (54%), while only one case showed loss of the area (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. (A) Genome wide array comparative genomic hybridization using DNA from colorectal carcinoma tissue showing copy number gains (block arrows) and losses (arrowheads) on multiple sites. **(B)** Copy number plots of chromosome 20 showing frequent gains in certain areas (line arrows).



2. AURKA gene amplification status

AURKA amplification was assessed in 15 patients (group with 20q13.2–13.33 copy number gain, n = 10; gain-negative group, n = 5). One case of 20q13.2–13.33 gain-positive group was failed to express proper fluorescences. Three out of the remaining nine cases with 20q13.2–13.33 gain showed amplification of *AURKA* gene but none revealed gene amplification among the gain-negative group (Table 2, Fig. 2).

Table 2. The relationship between 20q13.2-13.33 copy number gain and AURCA

 gene amplification

		AURKA gene amplification			
		Positive	Negative	Total(Cases)	
20q13.2-13.33 copy number gain	Positive	3	6	9	
	Negative	0	5	5	
	Total(Cases)	3	11	14	

AURKA, Aurora kinase A.





(A)

(B)

Fig. 2. Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization for Aurora kinase A (*AURKA*) in colorectal carcinomas showing significant amplification in the 20q13.2–13.33 gain-positive case **(A)** and no amplification in the case with no copy number gain on 20q13.2 **(B)**.

3. Relationship between AURKA expression and clinicopathological

characteristics

AURKA protein was expressed in 45% of colorectal adenocarcinoma cases (68/151), while negative to faintly reactive staining was found in normal colorectal epithelial cells in immunohistochemical study. The staining pattern was predominantly nuclear or nuclear and cytoplasmic in a few cases (Fig. 3). Table 3 shows the relationship between AURKA expression and clinicopathological



characteristics. AURKA protein expression was significantly related to patient sex, and positive AURKA staining was detected more often in male patients than in female (51.0% vs 31.9%, p = .035). In addition, AURKA expression was closely associated with tumor location, and it was more frequently found in carcinomas of the rectum, sigmoid colon, and descending colon than in carcinomas of proximal colon (51.4% vs 30.4%, p = .021). AURKA protein expression was not significantly correlated with age; tumor differentiation; vascular, lymphatic, and perineural invasion; or TNM stage.





(C)

(D)

Fig. 3. Immunohistochemical staining with Aurora kinase A (*AURKA*). (A) Score 1, positive staining in <10%. (B) Score 2, positive staining in \ge 10% and <25%. (C) Score 3, positive staining in \ge 25% and <50%. (D) Score 4, positive staining in \ge 50%.



Table	3.	The	relationship	between	Aurora	kinase	А	expression	and	the
clinico	path	ologi	cal characteris	stics of colo	orectal ca	ancer pa	tien	ts		

Characteristic	Aurora kinas	P-value	
	Positive	Negative	
Age (years)			
<65	29 (48.3)	31 (51.7)	0.616
≥65	39 (42.9)	52 (57.1)	
Sex			
Male	53 (51.0)	51 (49.0)	0.035
Female	15 (31.9)	32 (68.1)	
Tumor location			
Proximal	14 (30.4)	32 (69.6)	0.021
Distal	54 (51.4)	51 (48.6)	
Tumor differentiation			
Well	8 (44.4)	10 (55.6)	0.517
Moderate	57 (46.7)	65 (53.3)	
Poor	3 (33.3)	6 (66.7)	
Mucinous	0 (0.0)	2 (100.0)	



Vascular invasion					
Absent	64 (45.7)	76 (54.3)	0.755		
Present	4 (36.4)	7 (63.6)			
Lymphatic invasion					
Absent	32 (39.0)	50 (61.0)	0.139		
Present	36 (52.2)	33 (47.8)			
Perineural invasion					
Absent	44 (41.9)	61 (58.1)	0.288		
Present	24 (52.2)	22 (47.8)			
TNM stage					
Ι	11 (50.0)	11 (50.0)	0.692		
П	25 (41.0)	36 (59.0)			
Ш	32 (47.1)	36 (52.9)			

Values are presented as numbers (%).

TNM, tumor-node-metastasis.

4. AURKA expression and survival analysis

The mean follow-up time of the patients in this study was 1,269 days (range, 8 to 2,892 days). In total, 23.8% of the patients (n = 36) had recurred (AURKA-



positive group, n = 27; AURKA-negative group, n = 9). The recurrence rate was significantly higher in the AURKA-positive group compared to the negative group (39.1% vs 11%, p < .001).

The mean overall PFS time was 74.6 months (range, 68.6 to 80.7 months). The AURKA-positive patients had a significantly poorer PFS than the AURKA-negative patients (p < .001). A univariate analysis demonstrated that AURKA expression (p = .001) (Fig. 4A), age (p = .034), lymphatic invasion (p = .001) (Fig. 4B), perineural invasion (p = .002) (Fig. 4C), and TNM stage (p = .013) (Fig. 4D) significantly affected PFS. In a multivariate analysis of PFS, a Cox proportional hazard model confirmed that AURKA expression was an independent and significant prognostic factor in colorectal adenocarcinoma (hazard ratio, 3.944; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.821 to 8.542; p < .001) (Table 4). Perineural invasion was also identified as a significant prognostic factor (hazard ratio, 2.037; 95% CI, 1.017 to 4.079; p = .045) (Table 4).





Fig. 4. The relationships between Aurora kinase A (AURKA) expression **(A)**, lymphatic invasion **(B)**, perineural invasion **(C)**, TNM stage **(D)** and progression-free survival were analyzed using the Kaplan-Meier method with the log-rank test to assess the differences in survival probability between the groups.



 Table 4. Results of the multivariate Cox regression analysis of progression-free

 survival

Eactors	Hazard ratio	Divolue	
Factors	(95% CI)	1-value	
AURKA expression (positive vs. negative)	3.944 (1.821-8.542)	<0.001	
Age (<65 years vs. ≥65 years)	1.453 (0.726–2.907)	0.291	
Lymphatic invasion (present vs. absent)	1.654 (0.707–3.867)	0.246	
Perineural invasion (present vs. absent)	2.037 (1.017-4.079)	0.045	
TNM stage (III vs. I or II)	1.489 (0.688–3.224)	0.312	

AURKA, Aurora kinase A; CI, confidence interval; TNM, tumor-node-metastasis.



DISCUSSION

CRC is among the most common malignancies [13] and is the leading cause of cancer mortality in the world [20]. The identification of genes correlated with carcinogenesis and the research to silence these genes can improve the patient care by more accurately predicting the prognosis and selecting the most appropriate adjuvant therapy [13,15].

The role of Aurora kinases in mitosis and tumorigenesis is well documented [12,20,21]. AURKA is required for mitotic entry, chromosome alignment, and cytokinesis, and its abnormal function can result in aberrant cell division and aneuploidy, which in turn increase genomic instability and contribute to carcinogenesis [15,22]. Further, *AURKA* is an oncogene that contributes to colorectal adenoma to carcinoma progression and is associated with the malignant transformation of colorectal adenomas but not with serrated neoplasia progression [21,22].

Chromosomal abnormalities in CRC have been studied by multiple groups using either CGH or aCGH. This has led to the discovery of many chromosomal aberrations, including gains and losses. Particularly common findings are gains in 20q, 13q, 7p, and 8q and losses in 17p, 18q, 8p, 4q, and 5q.23 Orsetti *et al.*24 reported that most commonly altered regions (gains or losses in \geq 35% of the





samples) are gains at chromosomes 7p, 7q, 8q, 13q, 20 and losses at 8p, 17p, and 18 in the CRC. In this study, 20q13.2–13.33 copy number gain is recurrently observed in 13 cases (54%), which is consistent with the previous results.

We also assessed *AURKA* amplification using FISH in two subgroups. The gene amplification is observed more frequently in the copy number gain group (three cases out of nine), than the group with no significant gain on the *AURKA*containing locus. However, the data could not be analyzed statistically, due to a small number of cases. Further large-scale studies are required to assess the differences between the two groups.

A small number of researchers have reported FISH result for *AURKA* gene amplification in various malignancies, such as melanomas and cancers of breast and prostate [25-28]. Rare reports on FISH for *AURKA* gene amplification in colorectal carcinoma tissue were found in the English literature in spite of a thorough searching.

Zhang *et al.* [30] demonstrated an increased AURKA gene copy number in 32.1% of advanced CRCs (43/134), and Casorzo *et al.* [22] reported AURKA overexpression in 85% of adenomas (17/20) containing invasive carcinoma of the colorectum, corresponding to early invasive carcinoma. In a previous study, 69% of metastatic CRC samples (41/59) showed an increased gene copy number [12]. AURKA protein overexpression and gene amplification are common in CRCs [4,9,12,13,15,19-22,29,30]. In this study, we detected AURKA overexpression in 45%

27



of colorectal adenocarcinoma samples (71/151) using immunohistochemistry. Similarly, Lam *et al.* [13] reported AURKA protein expression in 48.5% (97/200) of CRC samples. In other studies, 33% (9/20)12 and 82.5% (33/40)15 of metastatic CRC samples showed AURKA overexpression.

In our study, AURKA expression was related to patient sex and tumor location, along with several other clinicopathological parameters. Tumor location, histology, and grade were correlated with AURKA protein expression in the report by Lam *et al.* [13] Baba *et al.* [19] reported that AURKA expression was inversely associated with a family history of CRC and not correlated with tumor location, grade, histologic component, or stage. Goktas *et al.* [15] found a significant relationship between AURKA expression and the histologic grade of the tumor tissue.

These discrepancies in AURKA expression may not only be caused by the heterogeneity of the study groups (e.g., patient number, patient characteristics, and disease stage), but also by differences in various technical conditions.

Some authors reported that AURKA expression is correlated with clinicopathological factors in other malignancies. For example, positive AURKA expression was closely correlated with TNM stage in gastric cancer [10] and with initial clinical stage, Ki-67 labeling index, and the recurrence rate in triple-negative breast cancer [14]. Ogawa *et al.* [11] reported that perimembrane AURKA staining was significantly related to a higher pathologic stage and higher



proliferative activity.

A few previous studies have investigated the prognostic impact of AURKA expression in CRC patients [4,9,15]. Belt *et al.* [4] suggested that high-level AURKA expression was significantly associated with recurrence in stage II or III colon cancer. Goos *et al.* [9] revealed that high-level AURKA expression was associated with poor overall survival in CRC patients with liver metastasis. In contrast, Goktas *et al.* [15] reported that AURKA overexpression may have a positive effect on survival in metastatic CRC. We analyzed the correlation between AURKA expression and survival in patients with CRC. Our data demonstrate that AURKA expression in CRC patients is associated with poor PFS. Moreover, our Cox model analysis indicated that AURKA expression is a prognostic factor for poor PFS in CRC patients. However, overall survival analysis could not be performed due to a short follow-up period.

Recent studies have shown that AURKA inhibitors have anticancer activity in various preclinical cancer models, and some inhibitors have entered clinical trials [1,8]. Such studies have underlined the incremental therapeutic efficacy of combining AURKA inhibitors with conventional anti-cancer drugs to inhibit tumor progression and restore chemosensitivity [1]. Our results suggest that targeted treatment with AURKA inhibitors can improve PFS and assist in planning the treatment of CRC patients.

In summary, AURKA expression was significantly associated with patient sex and



CRC location, and it was an independent molecular prognostic factor for poor outcome in CRC patients. Thus, AURKA expression may serve as a valuable prognostic marker for CRC.



REFERENCES

- 1. D'Assoro AB, Haddad T, Galanis E. Aurora-A Kinase as a Promising Therapeutic Target in Cancer. Front Oncol. 2015;5:295.
- 2. Katsha A, Belkhiri A, Goff L, El-Rifai W. Aurora kinase A in gastrointestinal cancers: time to target. Mol Cancer. 2015;14:106.
- 3. Cammareri P, Scopelliti A, Todaro M, et al. Aurora-a is essential for the tumorigenic capacity and chemoresistance of colorectal cancer stem cells. Cancer Res. 2010;70(11):4655–65.
- 4. Belt EJ, Brosens RP, Delis-van Diemen PM, et al. Cell cycle proteins predict recurrence in stage II and III colon cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19 Suppl 3:S682–92.
- 5. Zhang J, Li B, Yang Q, Zhang P, Wang H. Prognostic value of Aurora kinase A (AURKA) expression among solid tumor patients: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2015;45(7):629–36.
- 6. Fu J, Bian M, Jiang Q, Zhang C. Roles of Aurora kinases in mitosis and



tumorigenesis. Mol Cancer Res. 2007;5(1):1-10.

- 7. D'Assoro AB, Liu T, Quatraro C, et al. The mitotic kinase Aurora-a promotes distant metastases by inducing epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in ERalpha(+) breast cancer cells. Oncogene. 2014;33(5):599–610.
- 8. Cervantes A, Elez E, Roda D, et al. Phase I pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic study of MLN8237, an investigational, oral, selective aurora a kinase inhibitor, in patients with advanced solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(17):4764–74.
- 9. Goos JA, Coupe VM, Diosdado B, et al. Aurora kinase A (AURKA) expression in colorectal cancer liver metastasis is associated with poor prognosis. Br J Cancer. 2013;109(9):2445–52.
- 10. Wang J, Yang S, Zhang H, et al. Aurora-A as an independent molecular prognostic marker in gastric cancer. Oncol Rep. 2011;26(1):23–32.
- 11. Ogawa E, Takenaka K, Katakura H, et al. Perimembrane Aurora-A expression is a significant prognostic factor in correlation with proliferative activity in nonsmall-cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(2):547–54.



- 12. Dotan E, Meropol NJ, Zhu F, et al. Relationship of increased aurora kinase A gene copy number, prognosis and response to chemotherapy in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer. 2012;106(4):748–55.
- 13. Lam AK, Ong K, Ho YH. Aurora kinase expression in colorectal adenocarcinoma: correlations with clinicopathological features, p16 expression, and telomerase activity. Hum Pathol. 2008;39(4):599–604.
- 14. Xu J, Wu X, Zhou WH, et al. Aurora-A identifies early recurrence and poor prognosis and promises a potential therapeutic target in triple negative breast cancer. PLoS One. 2013;8(2):e56919.
- 15. Goktas S, Yildirim M, Suren D, et al. Prognostic role of Aurora-A expression in metastatic colorectal cancer patients. JBUON. 2014;19(3):686–91.
- 16. Li D, Zhu J, Firozi PF, et al. Overexpression of oncogenic STK15/BTAK/Aurora A Kinase in Human Pancreatic Cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(3):991–7.
- 17. Park HS, Park WS, Bondaruk J, et al. Quantitation of Aurora kinase A gene copy number in urine sediments and bladder cancer detection. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2008;100(19):1401–11.



18. Jeng YM, Peng SY, Lin CY, Hsu HC. Overexpression and amplification of Aurora-A in hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10:2065–71.

- 19. Baba Y, Nosho K, Shima K, et al. Aurora-A Expression Is Independently Associated with Chromosomal Instability in Colorectal Cancer. Neoplasia. 2009;11(5):418–25.
- 20. Sillars-Hardebol AH, Carvalho B, de Wit M, et al. Identification of key genes for carcinogenic pathways associated with colorectal adenoma-to-carcinoma progression. Tumour Biol. 2010;31(2):89–96.
- 21. Carvalho B, Postma C, Mongera S, et al. Multiple putative oncogenes at the chromosome 20q amplicon contribute to colorectal adenoma to carcinoma progression. Gut. 2009;58(1):79–89.

22. Casorzo L, Dell'Aglio C, Sarotto I, Risio M. Aurora kinase A gene copy number is associated with the malignant transformation of colorectal adenomas but not with the serrated neoplasia progression. Hum Pathol. 2015;46(3):411–8.



- 23. Jasmine F, Rahaman R, Dodsworth C, et al. A genome-wide sutdy of cytogenetic changes in colorectal cancer using SNP microarrays: opportunities for future personalized treatment. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):e31968.
- 24. Orsetti B, Selves J, Bascoul Mollevi C, et al. Impact of chromosomal instability on colorectal cancer progression and outcome. BMC cancer. 2014 Feb 22;14:121.
- 25. Park K, Chen Z, MacDonald TY, et al. Prostate cancer with Paneth cell–like neuroendocrine differentiation has recognizable histomorphology and harbors *AURKA* gene amplification. Hum Pathol. 2014 October ; 45(10): 2136–2143.
- 26. Mosquera JM, Beltran H, Park K, et al.

Concurrent AURKA and MYCN gene amplifications are harbingers of lethal treatment-related neuroendocrine prostate cancer, Neoplasia (2013) 15, 1–10.

27. Letessier A, Sircoulomb F, Ginestier C, et al, Frequency, prognostic impact, and subtype association of 8p12, 8q24, 11q13, 12p13, 17q12, and 20q13 amplifications in breast cancers. BMC Cancer. 2006; 6: 245.



- 28. Diaz A, Anton Puig-Butillé J, Valera YA et al. TERT and AURKA Gene Copy Number Gains Enhance the Detection of Acral Lentiginous Melanomas by Fluorescence in Situ Hybridization. J Mol Diagn. 2014 Mar;16(2):198-206.
- 29. Lassmann S, Danciu M, Muller M, et al. Aurora A is differentially expressed and regulated in chromosomal and microsatellite instable sporadic colorectal cancers. Mod Pathol. 2009;22(10):1385–97.
- 30. Zhang C, Fang Z, Xiong Y, et al. Copy number increase of aurora kinase A in colorectal cancers: a correlation with tumor progression. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai). 2010;42(11):834–8.



ABSTRACT IN KOREAN

Serine/threonine kinase family의 일원인 Aurora kinase A (AURKA)는 염색체 안정성과 세포분열에 중요한 역할을 하는 단백질로서, 주로 세포분열의 개시, 양극성 방추사 형성, 중심체 성숙 및 분리에 관여한다. *AURKA* 유전자가 위치하는 염색체의 위치인 20q13.2는 다양한 악성 종양에서 증폭되는 것으로 알려져 있으며, 종양 형성 및 공격적인 임상양상, 종양의 진행과 관련이 있는 것으로도 보고된 바 있다.

본 연구에서는 24명의 대장암 신선동결조직을 대상으로 배열 비교 게놈 교잡법 (array comparative genomic hybridization)을 시행하여 그 중 13 증례 (54%)에서 20q13.2-13.33 부위의 복제 수 증가가 있음을 확인하였다. 또한 해당 부위에 위치하는 주요 암 관련 유전자 중 *AURKA*를 대상으로 제자리형광교잡법 (fluorescence *in situ* hybridization)을 실시하여 암 조직 내에서 해당 유전자의 증폭을 확인하였다. 151명의 대장암 환자의 수술 검체는 Tissue microarray blocks (TMAs)로 제작한 후 면역화학염색을 시행하였고 AURKA 단백의 발현양상과 임상 및 병리학적 인자와의 관련성을 분석하였다

AURKA 유전자의 증폭은 20q13.2-13.33 부위의 복제 수 증가가 있는 군에서 그렇지 않은 군 보다 더 빈번하게 관찰되었다. AURKA 단백질 발현은 151명의 환자 중 68명에서 관찰되어 전체 환자의 45%에 해당되었는데, 여자보다는 남자에서 (p = .035), 대장 근위부에 위치한 암 보다는 원위부에 위치한 암 (p = .021) 에서 더 흔히 관찰되었다. AURKA 단백질 발현 군은 단백질 음성 군 보다 무진행생존 (progression-free survival) 기간이 더 짧은 것으로 확인되었다 (p < .001).

단변량 분석 (univariate analysis)을 시행한 결과 무진행생존 기간에 영향을 주는 요인으로는 AURKA 단백질 발현 (p = .001), 환자의 나이 (p = .034), 림프관 침윤 여부 (p = .001), 신경 침윤 여부 (p = .002) 및 TNM 병기 (p = .013)로 나타났다. 다변량 Cox 회귀분석에서는 AURKA 단백질의 발현이 대장암 환자에서 독립적인 예후인자임을 확인할 수 있었다 (hazard ratio, 3.944; p < .001).





ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to my advisor, Young Hee Maeng, for her academic guidance and enthusiastic encouragement throughout the research. Besides completing a PhD dissertation, she stimulated and directed me in publishing conference papers, journal papers and a book. During these projects, she was always there to provide necessary assistance and academic resources. Without her support, I could not have done what I was able to do. She was very generous in sharing her experiences on academic life and beyond. These experiences will be my primary guide during my life and academic career.

I owe my sincere gratitude to Prof. Young Sill Kim, Prof. Chang Lim Hyun, Prof. Bo Geun Jang, Prof. Jin Won Hyun and Prof. Weon Young Jang at the school of medicine in Jeju National University . In addition, I greatly appreciate all the professors who have instructed me in the school of medicine.

Last but not least, I would like to give my special thanks to my husband, Jin Oh Baik and my son, Seo-Jin Baik who are the origin of my power.



38